UNCITRAL

Model Legislative Provisions

on Privately Financed

Infrastructure Projects

Prepared by the United Nations
Commission on International Trade Law



UNCITRAL

Model Legislative Provisions on Privately Financed Infrastructure Projects

Prepared by the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law



NOTE

Symbols of United Nations documents are composed of capital letters combined with figures. Mention of such a symbol indicates a reference to a United Nations document.

Material in this publication may be freely quoted or reprinted, but acknowledgement is requested, together with a copy of the publication containing the quotation or reprint.

UNITED NATIONS PUBLICATION Sales No. E.04.V.11 ISBN 92-1-133583-3

Preface

The present *Model Legislative Provisions* were prepared by the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL) as an addition to the *UNCITRAL Legislative Guide on Privately Financed Infrastructure Projects.* In addition to representatives of member States of the Commission, representatives of many other States and of a number of international organizations, both intergovernmental and non-governmental, participated actively in the preparatory work.

The Commission considered the additional work to be undertaken in the field of privately financed infrastructure projects after the adoption of the *Legislative Guide* in 2001 and entrusted a working group with the task of preparing model legislative provisions on the basis of the recommendations contained in the *Legislative Guide.*^b The working group devoted two sessions, held in Vienna from 24 to 28 September 2001 and from 9 to 13 September 2002 to the preparation of the draft model legislative provisions. The Commission finalized and adopted^c the *Model Legislative Provisions* at its thirty-sixth session, held in Vienna from 30 June to 11 July 2003, and requested the Secretariat to disseminate them among Governments, relevant international intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations, private sector entities and academic institutions.

The Commission further requested the Secretariat to consolidate in due course the text of the *Model Legislative Provisions* and the *Legislative Guide* into one single publication and, in doing so, to retain the legislative recommendations contained in the *Legislative Guide* as a basis of the development of the *Model Legislative Provisions*.

^aUnited Nations publication, Sales No. E.01.V.4.

^bOfficial Records of the General Assembly, Fifty-sixth Session, Supplement No. 17 (A/56/17), para. 369 (see Yearbook of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law 2001, part one).

^cIbid., Fifty-eighth Session, Supplement No. 17 (A/58/17), paras. 12-171.

^dIbid., para. 171.



Contents

		Page
Prej	face	iii
Rese	olution adopted by the General Assembly	ix
For	eword	xi
	Part one	
	LEGISLATIVE RECOMMENDATIONS	
I.	GENERAL LEGISLATIVE AND INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK	1
	Constitutional, legislative and institutional framework	
	(recommendation 1)	1
	Scope of authority to award concessions (recommendations 2-5) . Administrative coordination (recommendation 6)	1 2
	Authority to regulate infrastructure services (recommendations 7-11)	2
II.	PROJECT RISKS AND GOVERNMENT SUPPORT	3
11.		3
	Project risks and risk allocation (recommendation 12)	3
	Part two	
	MODEL LEGISLATIVE PROVISIONS	
I.	GENERAL PROVISIONS	5
	Model provision 1. Preamble	5
	Model provision 2. Definitions	5
	Model provision 3. Authority to enter into concession contracts	6
	Model provision 4. Eligible infrastructure sectors	7
II.	SELECTION OF THE CONCESSIONAIRE	7
	Model provision 5. Rules governing the selection proceedings .	7
	1. Pre-selection of bidders	7
	Model provision 6. Purpose and procedure of pre-selection	7
	Model provision 7. Pre-selection criteria	9

		Page
	Model provision 8. Participation of consortia	9
	Model provision 9. Decision on pre-selection	10
	2. Procedures for requesting proposals	11
	Model provision 10. Single-stage and two-stage procedures for	
	requesting proposals	11
	Model provision 11. Content of the request for proposals	12
	Model provision 12. Bid securities	12
	Model provision 13. Clarifications and modifications	13
	Model provision 14. Evaluation criteria	13
	Model provision 15. Comparison and evaluation of proposals	14
	Model provision 16. Further demonstration of fulfilment of qualification criteria	14
	Model provision 17. Final negotiations	15
	3. Negotiation of concession contracts without competitive	13
	procedures	15
	Model provision 18. Circumstances authorizing award without	
	competitive procedures	15
	Model provision 19. Procedures for negotiation of a concession	
	contract	16
	4. Unsolicited proposals	17
	Model provision 20. Admissibility of unsolicited proposals	17
	Model provision 21. Procedures for determining the admissibility	
	of unsolicited proposals	17
	Model provision 22. Unsolicited proposals that do not involve	10
	intellectual property, trade secrets or other exclusive rights	18
	Model provision 23. Unsolicited proposals involving intellectual property, trade secrets or other exclusive rights	19
	5. Miscellaneous provisions	19
	•	19
	Model provision 24. Confidentiality	20
	Model provision 26. Record of selection and award proceedings	20
	Model provision 27. Review procedures	20
	•	20
III.		
	CONCESSION CONTRACT	21
	Model provision 28. Contents and implementation of the	21
	concession contract	21
	Model provision 30. Organization of the concessionaira	22 23
	Model provision 30. Organization of the concessionaire	23
	Model provision 32. Acquisition of rights related to the	23
	project site	23
	EA	

		Page
	Model provision 33. Easements	24
	Model provision 34. Financial arrangements	25
	Model provision 35. Security interests	25
	Model provision 36. Assignment of the concession contract	26
	Model provision 37. Transfer of controlling interest in the	
	concessionaire	26
	Model provision 38. Operation of infrastructure	26
	Model provision 39. Compensation for specific changes in legislation	27
	Model provision 40. Revision of the concession contract	27
	Model provision 41. Takeover of an infrastructure project by	
	the contracting authority	28
	Model provision 42. Substitution of the concessionaire	28
IV.	DURATION, EXTENSION AND TERMINATION OF THE	
1 7 .	CONCESSION CONTRACT	28
	1. Duration and extension of the concession contract	28
	Model provision 43. Duration and extension of the concession	
	contract	28
	2. Termination of the concession contract	29
	Model provision 44. Termination of the concession contract by	
	the contracting authority	29
	Model provision 45. Termination of the concession contract by	
	the concessionaire	29
	Model provision 46. Termination of the concession contract by	20
	either party	30
	3. Arrangements upon termination or expiry of the concession contract	30
	Model provision 47. Compensation upon termination of the	50
	concession contract	30
	Model provision 48. Wind-up and transfer measures	30
	r	
V.	SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES	31
	Model provision 49. Disputes between the contracting authority	21
	and the concessionaire	31
	Model provision 50. Disputes involving customers or users of the infrastructure facility	31
	Model provision 51. Other disputes	31
	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	JI

Resolution adopted by the General Assembly

[on the report of the Sixth Committee (A/58/513)]

58/76. Model Legislative Provisions on Privately Financed Infrastructure Projects of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law

The General Assembly,

Bearing in mind the role of public-private partnerships to improve the provision and sound management of infrastructure and public services in the interest of sustainable economic and social development,

Recognizing the need to provide an enabling environment that both encourages private investment in infrastructure and takes into account the public interest concerns of the country,

Emphasizing the importance of efficient and transparent procedures for the award of privately financed infrastructure projects,

Stressing the desirability of facilitating project implementation by rules that enhance transparency, fairness and long-term sustainability and remove undesirable restrictions on private sector participation in infrastructure development and operation,

Recalling the valuable guidance that the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law has provided to Member States towards the establishment of a favourable legislative framework for private participation in infrastructure development through the UNCITRAL Legislative Guide on Privately Financed Infrastructure Projects, 1

Believing that the Model Legislative Provisions on Privately Financed Infrastructure Projects of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law will be of further assistance to States, in particular developing countries, in promoting good governance and establishing an appropriate legislative framework for such projects,

- 1. Expresses its appreciation to the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law for the completion and adoption of the Model Legislative Provisions on Privately Financed Infrastructure Projects, the text of which is contained in annex I to the report of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law on its thirty-sixth session;²
- 2. Requests the Secretary-General to publish the Model Legislative Provisions and to make all efforts to ensure that the Model Legislative Provisions along with the UNCITRAL Legislative Guide on Privately Financed Infrastructure Projects¹ become generally known and available:

¹United Nations publication, Sales No. E.01.V.4.

²Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifty-eighth Session, Supplement No. 17 (A/58/17).

- 3. Also requests the Secretary-General, subject to availability of resources, to consolidate in due course the text of the Model Legislative Provisions and the Legislative Guide into one single publication and, in doing so, to retain the legislative recommendations contained in the Legislative Guide as a basis of the development of the Model Legislative Provisions:
- 4. *Recommends* that all States give due consideration to the Model Legislative Provisions and the *Legislative Guide* when revising or adopting legislation related to private participation in the development and operation of public infrastructure.

72nd plenary meeting 9 December 2003

Foreword

The following pages contain a set of general recommended legislative principles entitled "legislative recommendations" and model legislative provisions (the "model provisions") on privately financed infrastructure projects. The legislative recommendations and the model provisions are intended to assist domestic legislative bodies in the establishment of a legislative framework favourable to privately financed infrastructure projects. They are followed by notes that offer an analytical explanation of the financial, regulatory, legal, policy and other issues raised in the subject area. The reader is advised to read the legislative recommendations and the model provisions together with the notes, which provide background information to enhance understanding of the legislative recommendations and model provisions.

The legislative recommendations and the model provisions consist of a set of core provisions dealing with matters that deserve attention in legislation specifically concerned with privately financed infrastructure projects.

The model provisions are designed to be implemented and supplemented by the issuance of regulations providing further details. Areas more suitably addressed by regulations rather than statutes are identified accordingly. Moreover, the successful implementation of privately financed infrastructure projects typically requires various measures beyond the establishment of an appropriate legislative framework, such as adequate administrative structures and practices, organizational capability, technical, legal and financial expertise, appropriate human and financial resources and economic stability.

It should be noted that the legislative recommendations and the model provisions do not deal with other areas of law that also have an impact on privately financed infrastructure projects but on which no specific legislative recommendations are made in the UNCITRAL Legislative Guide on Privately Financed Infrastructure Projects.* Those other areas of law include, for instance, promotion and protection of investments, property law, security interests, rules and procedures on compulsory acquisition of private property, general contract law, rules on government contracts and administrative law, tax law and environmental protection and consumer protection laws. The relationship of such other areas of law to any law enacted specifically with respect to privately financed infrastructure projects should be borne in mind.

^{*}United Nations publication, Sales No. E.01.V.4.

Part one

Legislative recommendations

I. General legislative and institutional framework

Constitutional, legislative and institutional framework (see the *Legislative Guide*, chap. I, "General legislative and institutional framework", paras. 2-14)

Recommendation 1. The constitutional, legislative and institutional framework for the implementation of privately financed infrastructure projects should ensure transparency, fairness and the long-term sustainability of projects. Undesirable restrictions on private sector participation in infrastructure development and operation should be eliminated.

Scope of authority to award concessions (see the *Legislative Guide*, chap. I, "General legislative and institutional framework", paras. 15-22)

Recommendation 2. The law should identify the public authorities of the host country (including, as appropriate, national, provincial and local authorities) that are empowered to award concessions and enter into agreements for the implementation of privately financed infrastructure projects.

Recommendation 3. Privately financed infrastructure projects may include concessions for the construction and operation of new infrastructure facilities and systems or the maintenance, modernization, expansion and operation of existing infrastructure facilities and systems.

Recommendation 4. The law should identify the sectors or types of infrastructure in respect of which concessions may be granted.

Recommendation 5. The law should specify the extent to which a concession might extend to the entire region under the jurisdiction of the respective contracting authority, to a geographical subdivision thereof or

to a discrete project, and whether it might be awarded with or without exclusivity, as appropriate, in accordance with rules and principles of law, statutory provisions, regulations and policies applying to the sector concerned. Contracting authorities might be jointly empowered to award concessions beyond a single jurisdiction.

Administrative coordination (see the *Legislative Guide*, chap. I, "General legislative and institutional framework", paras. 23-29)

Recommendation 6. Institutional mechanisms should be established to coordinate the activities of the public authorities responsible for issuing approvals, licences, permits or authorizations required for the implementation of privately financed infrastructure projects in accordance with statutory or regulatory provisions on the construction and operation of infrastructure facilities of the type concerned.

Authority to regulate infrastructure services (see the *Legislative Guide*, chap. I, "General legislative and institutional framework", paras. 30-53)

Recommendation 7. The authority to regulate infrastructure services should not be entrusted to entities that directly or indirectly provide infrastructure services.

Recommendation 8. Regulatory competence should be entrusted to functionally independent bodies with a level of autonomy sufficient to ensure that their decisions are taken without political interference or inappropriate pressures from infrastructure operators and public service providers.

Recommendation 9. The rules governing regulatory procedures should be made public. Regulatory decisions should state the reasons on which they are based and should be accessible to interested parties through publication or other means.

Recommendation 10. The law should establish transparent procedures whereby the concessionaire may request a review of regulatory decisions by an independent and impartial body, which may include court review, and should set forth the grounds on which such a review may be based.

Recommendation 11. Where appropriate, special procedures should be established for handling disputes among public service providers concerning alleged violations of laws and regulations governing the relevant sector.

II. Project risks and government support

Project risks and risk allocation (see the *Legislative Guide*, chap. II, "Project risks and government support", paras. 8-29)

Recommendation 12. No unnecessary statutory or regulatory limitations should be placed upon the contracting authority's ability to agree on an allocation of risks that is suited to the needs of the project.

Government support (see the *Legislative Guide*, chap. II, "Project risks and government support", paras. 30-60)

Recommendation 13. The law should clearly state which public authorities of the host country may provide financial or economic support to the implementation of privately financed infrastructure projects and which types of support they are authorized to provide.

Part two

Model legislative provisions

I. General provisions

Model provision 1. Preamble (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 1 and chap. I, paras. 2-14)

WHEREAS the [Government] [Parliament] of [...] considers it desirable to establish a favourable legislative framework to promote and facilitate the implementation of privately financed infrastructure projects by enhancing transparency, fairness and long-term sustainability and removing undesirable restrictions on private sector participation in infrastructure development and operation;

WHEREAS the [Government] [Parliament] of [...] considers it desirable to further develop the general principles of transparency, economy and fairness in the award of contracts by public authorities through the establishment of specific procedures for the award of infrastructure projects;

[Other objectives that the enacting State might wish to state];

Be it therefore enacted as follows:

Model provision 2. Definitions (see the *Legislative Guide*, introduction, paras. 9-20)

For the purposes of this law:

- (a) "Infrastructure facility" means physical facilities and systems that directly or indirectly provide services to the general public;
- (b) "Infrastructure project" means the design, construction, development and operation of new infrastructure facilities or the rehabilitation, modernization, expansion or operation of existing infrastructure facilities;
- (c) "Contracting authority" means the public authority that has the power to enter into a concession contract for the implementation of an infrastructure project [under the provisions of this law];¹

¹It should be noted that this definition relates only to the power to enter into concession contracts. Depending on the regulatory regime of the enacting State, a separate body, referred to as "regulatory agency" in subpara. (h), may have responsibility for issuing rules and regulations governing the provision of the relevant service.

- (d) "Concessionaire" means the person that carries out an infrastructure project under a concession contract entered into with a contracting authority;
- (e) "Concession contract" means the mutually binding agreement or agreements between the contracting authority and the concessionaire that set forth the terms and conditions for the implementation of an infrastructure project;
- (f) "Bidder" or "bidders" means persons, including groups thereof, that participate in selection proceedings concerning an infrastructure project;²
- (g) "Unsolicited proposal" means any proposal relating to the implementation of an infrastructure project that is not submitted in response to a request or solicitation issued by the contracting authority within the context of a selection procedure;
- (h) "Regulatory agency" means a public authority that is entrusted with the power to issue and enforce rules and regulations governing the infrastructure facility or the provision of the relevant services.³

Model provision 3. Authority to enter into concession contracts (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 2 and chap. I, paras. 15-18)

The following public authorities have the power to enter into concession contracts⁴ for the implementation of infrastructure projects falling within their respective spheres of competence: [the enacting State lists the relevant public authorities of the host country that may enter into concession contracts by way of an exhaustive or indicative list of public authorities, a list of types or categories of public authority or a combination thereof].⁵

²The term "bidder" or "bidders" encompasses, according to the context, both persons that have sought an invitation to take part in pre-selection proceedings or persons that have submitted a proposal in response to a contracting authority's request for proposals.

³The composition, structure and functions of such a regulatory agency may need to be addressed in special legislation (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendations 7-11 and chap. I, "General legislative and institutional framework", paras. 30-53).

⁴It is advisable to establish institutional mechanisms to coordinate the activities of the public authorities responsible for issuing the approvals, licences, permits or authorizations required for the implementation of privately financed infrastructure projects in accordance with statutory or regulatory provisions on the construction and operation of infrastructure facilities of the type concerned (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 6 and chap. I, "General legislative and institutional framework", paras. 23-29). In addition, for countries that contemplate providing specific forms of government support to infrastructure projects, it may be useful for the relevant law, such as legislation or a regulation governing the activities of entities authorized to offer government support, to identify clearly which entities have the power to provide such support and what kind of support may be provided (see chap. II, "Project risks and government support").

⁵Enacting States may generally have two options for completing this model provision. One alternative may be to provide a list of authorities empowered to enter into concession contracts, either in the model provision or in a schedule to be attached thereto. Another alternative might be for the enacting State to indicate the levels of government that have the power to enter into those contracts, without naming relevant public authorities. In a federal State, for example, such an enabling clause might refer to "the Union, the states [or provinces] and the municipalities". In any event, it is advisable for enacting States that wish to include an exhaustive list of authorities to consider mechanisms allowing for revisions of such a list as the need arises. One possibility to that end might be to include the list in a schedule to the law or in regulations that may be issued thereunder.

Model provision 4. Eligible infrastructure sectors (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 4 and chap. I, paras. 19-22)

Concession contracts may be entered into by the relevant authorities in the following sectors: [the enacting State indicates the relevant sectors by way of an exhaustive or indicative list].⁶

II. Selection of the concessionaire

Model provision 5. Rules governing the selection proceedings (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 14 and chap. III, paras. 1-33)

The selection of the concessionaire shall be conducted in accordance with model provisions 6-27 and, for matters not provided herein, in accordance with [the enacting State indicates the provisions of its laws that provide for transparent and efficient competitive procedures for the award of government contracts].⁷

1. Pre-selection of bidders

Model provision 6. Purpose and procedure of pre-selection (see the *Legislative Guide*, chap. III, paras. 34-50)

1. The contracting authority shall engage in pre-selection proceedings with a view to identifying bidders that are suitably qualified to implement the envisaged infrastructure project.

⁶It is advisable for enacting States that wish to include an exhaustive list of sectors to consider mechanisms allowing for revisions of such a list as the need arises. One possibility to that end might be to include the list in a schedule to the law or in regulations that may be issued thereunder.

⁷The reader's attention is drawn to the relationship between the procedures for the selection of the concessionaire and the general legislative framework for the award of government contracts in the enacting State. While some elements of structured competition that exist in traditional procurement methods may be usefully applied, a number of adaptations are needed to take into account the particular needs of privately financed infrastructure projects, such as a clearly defined pre-selection phase, flexibility in the formulation of requests for proposals, special evaluation criteria and some scope for negotiations with bidders. The selection procedures reflected in this chapter are based largely on the features of the principal method for the procurement of services under the UNCITRAL Model Law on Procurement of Goods, Construction and Services, which was adopted by UNCITRAL at its twenty-seventh session, held in New York from 31 May to 17 June (the "Model Procurement Law"). The model provisions on the selection of the concessionaire are not intended to replace or reproduce the entire rules of the enacting State on government procurement, but rather to assist domestic legislators in developing special rules for the selection of the concessionaire. The model provisions assume that there exists in the enacting State a general framework for the award of government contracts providing for transparent and efficient competitive procedures in a manner that meets the standards of the Model Procurement Law. Thus, the model provisions do not deal with a number of practical procedural steps that would typically be found in an adequate general procurement regime. Examples include the following matters: manner of publication of notices, procedures for issuance of requests for proposals, record-keeping of the procurement process, accessibility of information to the public and review procedures. Where appropriate, the notes to these model provisions refer the reader to provisions of the Model Procurement Law, which may, mutatis mutandis, supplement the practical elements of the selection procedure described herein.

- 2. The invitation to participate in the pre-selection proceedings shall be published in accordance with [the enacting State indicates the provisions of its laws governing publication of invitation to participate in proceedings for the pre-qualification of suppliers and contractors].
- 3. To the extent not already required by [the enacting State indicates the provisions of its laws on procurement proceedings that govern the content of invitations to participate in proceedings for the pre-qualification of suppliers and contractors], the invitation to participate in the pre-selection proceedings shall include at least the following:
 - (a) A description of the infrastructure facility;
- (b) An indication of other essential elements of the project, such as the services to be delivered by the concessionaire, the financial arrangements envisaged by the contracting authority (for example, whether the project will be entirely financed by user fees or tariffs or whether public funds such as direct payments, loans or guarantees may be provided to the concessionaire);
- (c) Where already known, a summary of the main required terms of the concession contract to be entered into:
- (d) The manner and place for the submission of applications for preselection and the deadline for the submission, expressed as a specific date and time, allowing sufficient time for bidders to prepare and submit their applications; and
 - (e) The manner and place for solicitation of the pre-selection documents.
- 4. To the extent not already required by [the enacting State indicates the provisions of its laws on procurement proceedings that govern the content of the pre-selection documents to be provided to suppliers and contractors in proceedings for the pre-qualification of suppliers and contractors], the pre-selection documents shall include at least the following information:
 - (a) The pre-selection criteria in accordance with model provision 7;
- (b) Whether the contracting authority intends to waive the limitations on the participation of consortia set forth in model provision 8;
- (c) Whether the contracting authority intends to request only a limited number¹⁰ of pre-selected bidders to submit proposals upon completion of the pre-selection proceedings in accordance with model provision 9, paragraph 2, and, if applicable, the manner in which this selection will be carried out;

⁸A list of elements typically contained in an invitation to participate in pre-qualification proceedings can be found in art. 25, para. 2, of the Model Procurement Law.

 $^{^9}$ A list of elements typically contained in pre-qualification documents can be found in art. 7, para. 3, of the Model Procurement Law.

¹⁰In some countries, practical guidance on selection procedures encourages domestic contracting authorities to limit the prospective proposals to the lowest possible number sufficient to ensure meaningful competition (for example, three or four). The manner in which rating systems (in particular quantitative ones) may be used to arrive at such a range of bidders is discussed in the *Legislative Guide* (see chap. III, "Selection of the concessionaire", paras. 48 and 49). See also footnote 14.

- (d) Whether the contracting authority intends to require the successful bidder to establish an independent legal entity established and incorporated under the laws of [the enacting State] in accordance with model provision 30.
- 5. For matters not provided for in this model provision, the preselection proceedings shall be conducted in accordance with [the enacting State indicates the provisions of its laws on government procurement governing the conduct of proceedings for the pre-qualification of suppliers and contractors].¹¹

Model provision 7. Pre-selection criteria (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 15 and chap. III, paras. 34-40, 43 and 44)

In order to qualify for the selection proceedings, interested bidders must meet objectively justifiable criteria¹² that the contracting authority considers appropriate in the particular proceedings, as stated in the pre-selection documents. These criteria shall include at least the following:

- (a) Adequate professional and technical qualifications, human resources, equipment and other physical facilities as necessary to carry out all the phases of the project, including design, construction, operation and maintenance;
- (b) Sufficient ability to manage the financial aspects of the project and capability to sustain its financing requirements;
- (c) Appropriate managerial and organizational capability, reliability and experience, including previous experience in operating similar infrastructure facilities.

Model provision 8. Participation of consortia (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 16 and chap. III, paras. 41 and 42)

1. The contracting authority, when first inviting the participation of bidders in the selection proceedings, shall allow them to form bidding consortia. The information required from members of bidding consortia to demonstrate their qualifications in accordance with model provision 7 shall relate to the consortium as a whole as well as to its individual participants.

¹¹Procedural steps on pre-qualification proceedings, including procedures for handling requests for clarifications and disclosure requirements for the contracting authority's decision on the bidders' qualifications, can be found in art. 7 of the Model Procurement Law, paras. 2-7.

¹²The laws of some countries provide for some sort of preferential treatment for domestic entities or afford special treatment to bidders that undertake to use national goods or employ local labour. The various issues raised by domestic preferences are discussed in the *Legislative Guide* (see chap. III, "Selection of the concessionaire", paras. 43 and 44). The *Legislative Guide* suggests that countries that wish to provide some incentive to national suppliers may wish to apply such preferences in the form of special evaluation criteria, rather than by a blanket exclusion of foreign suppliers. In any event, where domestic preferences are envisaged, they should be announced in advance, preferably in the invitation to the pre-selection proceedings.

- 2. Unless otherwise [authorized by . . . [the enacting State indicates the relevant authority] and] stated in the pre-selection documents, each member of a consortium may participate, either directly or indirectly, in only one consortium¹³ at the same time. A violation of this rule shall cause the disqualification of the consortium and of the individual members.
- 3. When considering the qualifications of bidding consortia, the contracting authority shall consider the capabilities of each of the consortium members and assess whether the combined qualifications of the consortium members are adequate to meet the needs of all phases of the project.

Model provision 9. Decision on pre-selection (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 17 (for para. 2) and chap. III, paras. 47-50)

- 1. The contracting authority shall make a decision with respect to the qualifications of each bidder that has submitted an application for preselection. In reaching that decision, the contracting authority shall apply only the criteria that are set forth in the pre-selection documents. All pre-selected bidders shall thereafter be invited by the contracting authority to submit proposals in accordance with model provisions 10-17.
- 2. Notwithstanding paragraph 1, the contracting authority may, provided that it has made an appropriate statement in the pre-selection documents to that effect, reserve the right to request proposals upon completion of the pre-selection proceedings only from a limited number¹⁴ of bidders that best meet the pre-selection criteria. For this purpose, the contracting authority shall rate the bidders that meet the pre-selection criteria on the basis of the criteria applied to assess their qualifications and draw up the list of bidders that will be invited to submit proposals upon completion of the pre-selection proceedings. In drawing up the list, the contracting authority shall apply only the manner of rating that is set forth in the pre-selection documents.

¹³The rationale for prohibiting the participation of bidders in more than one consortium to submit proposals for the same project is to reduce the risk of leakage of information or collusion between competing consortia. Nevertheless, the model provision contemplates the possibility of ad hoc exceptions to this rule, for instance, in the event that only one company or only a limited number of companies could be expected to deliver a specific good or service essential for the implementation of the project.

¹⁴In some countries, practical guidance on selection procedures encourages domestic contracting authorities to limit the prospective proposals to the lowest possible number sufficient to ensure meaningful competition (for example, three or four). The manner in which rating systems (in particular quantitative ones) may be used to arrive at such a range of bidders is discussed in the *Legislative Guide* (see chap. III, "Selection of the concessionaire", para. 48). It should be noted that the rating system is used solely for the purpose of the pre-selection of bidders. The ratings of the pre-selected bidders should not be taken into account at the stage of evaluation of proposals (see model provision 15), at which all pre-selected bidders should start out on an equal standing.

2. Procedures for requesting proposals

Model provision 10. Single-stage and two-stage procedures for requesting proposals (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendations 18 (for para. 1) and 19 (for paras. 2 and 3) and chap. III, paras. 51-58)

- 1. The contracting authority shall provide a set of the request for proposals and related documents issued in accordance with model provision 11 to each pre-selected bidder that pays the price, if any, charged for those documents.
- 2. Notwithstanding the above, the contracting authority may use a twostage procedure to request proposals from pre-selected bidders when the contracting authority does not deem it to be feasible to describe in the request for proposals the characteristics of the project such as project specifications, performance indicators, financial arrangements or contractual terms in a manner sufficiently detailed and precise to permit final proposals to be formulated.
 - 3. Where a two-stage procedure is used, the following provisions apply:
- (a) The initial request for proposals shall call upon the bidders to submit, in the first stage of the procedure, initial proposals relating to project specifications, performance indicators, financing requirements or other characteristics of the project as well as to the main contractual terms proposed by the contracting authority;¹⁵
- (b) The contracting authority may convene meetings and hold discussions with any of the bidders to clarify questions concerning the initial request for proposals or the initial proposals and accompanying documents submitted by the bidders. The contracting authority shall prepare minutes of any such meeting or discussion containing the questions raised and the clarifications provided by the contracting authority;
- (c) Following examination of the proposals received, the contracting authority may review and, as appropriate, revise the initial request for proposals by deleting or modifying any aspect of the initial project specifications, performance indicators, financing requirements or other characteristics of the project, including the main contractual terms, and any criterion for evaluating and comparing proposals and for ascertaining the successful bidder, as set forth in the initial request for proposals, as well as by adding characteristics or

¹⁵In many cases, in particular for new types of project, the contracting authority may not be in a position, at this stage, to have formulated a detailed draft of the contractual terms envisaged by it. Also, the contracting authority may find it preferable to develop such terms only after an initial round of consultations with the pre-selected bidders. In any event, however, it is important for the contracting authority, at this stage, to provide some indication of the key contractual terms of the concession contract, in particular the way in which the project risks should be allocated between the parties under the concession contract. If this allocation of contractual rights and obligations is left entirely open until after the issuance of the final request for proposals, the bidders may respond by seeking to minimize the risks they accept, which may frustrate the purpose of seeking private investment for developing the project (see chap. III, "Selection of the concessionaire", paras. 67-70; see also chap. II, "Project risks and government support", paras. 8-29).

criteria to it. The contracting authority shall indicate in the record of the selection proceedings to be kept pursuant to model provision 26 the justification for any revision to the request for proposals. Any such deletion, modification or addition shall be communicated in the invitation to submit final proposals;

(d) In the second stage of the proceedings, the contracting authority shall invite the bidders to submit final proposals with respect to a single set of project specifications, performance indicators or contractual terms in accordance with model provisions 11-17.

Model provision 11. Content of the request for proposals (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 20 and chap. III, paras. 59-70)

To the extent not already required by [the enacting State indicates the provisions of its laws on procurement proceedings that govern the content of requests for proposals], 16 the request for proposals shall include at least the following information:

- (a) General information as may be required by the bidders in order to prepare and submit their proposals;¹⁷
- (b) Project specifications and performance indicators, as appropriate, including the contracting authority's requirements regarding safety and security standards and environmental protection; ¹⁸
- (c) The contractual terms proposed by the contracting authority, including an indication of which terms are deemed to be non-negotiable;
- (d) The criteria for evaluating proposals and the thresholds, if any, set by the contracting authority for identifying non-responsive proposals; the relative weight to be accorded to each evaluation criterion; and the manner in which the criteria and thresholds are to be applied in the evaluation and rejection of proposals.

Model provision 12. Bid securities (see the *Legislative Guide*, chap. III, para. 62)

1. The request for proposals shall set forth the requirements with respect to the issuer and the nature, form, amount and other principal terms and conditions of the required bid security.

¹⁶A list of elements typically contained in a request for proposals for services can be found in article 38 of the Model Procurement Law.

¹⁷A list of the elements that should be provided can be found in the *Legislative Guide*, chapter III, "Selection of the concessionaire", paras. 61 and 62.

¹⁸See the Legislative Guide, chapter III, "Selection of the concessionaire", paras. 64-66.

- 2. A bidder shall not forfeit any bid security that it may have been required to provide, other than in cases of:19
- (a) Withdrawal or modification of a proposal after the deadline for submission of proposals and, if so stipulated in the request for proposals, before that deadline:
- (b) Failure to enter into final negotiations with the contracting authority pursuant to model provision 17, paragraph 1;
- (c) Failure to submit its best and final offer within the time limit prescribed by the contracting authority pursuant to model provision 17, paragraph 2;
- (d) Failure to sign the concession contract, if required by the contracting authority to do so, after the proposal has been accepted;
- (e) Failure to provide required security for the fulfilment of the concession contract after the proposal has been accepted or to comply with any other condition prior to signing the concession contract specified in the request for proposals.

Model provision 13. Clarifications and modifications (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 21 and chap. III, paras. 71 and 72)

The contracting authority may, whether on its own initiative or as a result of a request for clarification by a bidder, review and, as appropriate, revise any element of the request for proposals as set forth in model provision 11. The contracting authority shall indicate in the record of the selection proceedings to be kept pursuant to model provision 26 the justification for any revision to the request for proposals. Any such deletion, modification or addition shall be communicated to the bidders in the same manner as the request for proposals at a reasonable time prior to the deadline for submission of proposals.

Model provision 14. Evaluation criteria (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendations 22 (for para. 1) and 23 (for para. 2) and chap. III, paras. 73-77)

- 1. The criteria for the evaluation and comparison of the technical proposals²⁰ shall include at least the following:
 - (a) Technical soundness;
 - (b) Compliance with environmental standards;
 - (c) Operational feasibility;
 - (d) Quality of services and measures to ensure their continuity.

¹⁹General provisions on bid securities can be found in art. 32 of the Model Procurement Law.

²⁰See the Legislative Guide, chapter III, "Selection of the concessionaire", para. 74.

- 2. The criteria for the evaluation and comparison of the financial and commercial proposals²¹ shall include, as appropriate:
- (a) The present value of the proposed tolls, unit prices and other charges over the concession period;
- (b) The present value of the proposed direct payments by the contracting authority, if any;
- (c) The costs for design and construction activities, annual operation and maintenance costs, present value of capital costs and operating and maintenance costs;
- (d) The extent of financial support, if any, expected from a public authority of [the enacting State];
 - (e) The soundness of the proposed financial arrangements;
- (f) The extent of acceptance of the negotiable contractual terms proposed by the contracting authority in the request for proposals;
- (g) The social and economic development potential offered by the proposals.

Model provision 15. Comparison and evaluation of proposals (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 24 and chap. III, paras. 78-82)

- 1. The contracting authority shall compare and evaluate each proposal in accordance with the evaluation criteria, the relative weight accorded to each such criterion and the evaluation process set forth in the request for proposals.
- 2. For the purposes of paragraph 1, the contracting authority may establish thresholds with respect to quality, technical, financial and commercial aspects. Proposals that fail to achieve the thresholds shall be regarded as non-responsive and rejected from the selection procedure.²²

Model provision 16. Further demonstration of fulfilment of qualification criteria (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 25 and chap. III, paras. 78-82)

The contracting authority may require any bidder that has been preselected to demonstrate again its qualifications in accordance with the same

²¹See the *Legislative Guide*, chapter III, "Selection of the concessionaire", paras. 75-77.

²²This model provision offers an example of an evaluation process that a contracting authority may wish to apply to compare and evaluate proposals for privately financed infrastructure projects. Alternative evaluation processes such as a two-step evaluation process or the two-envelope system are described in the *Legislative Guide*, chap. III, "Selection of the concessionaire", paras. 79-82. In contrast to the process set forth in this model provision, the processes described in the *Legislative Guide* are designed to allow the contracting authority to compare and evaluate the non-financial criteria separately from the financial criteria so as to avoid situations where undue weight would be given to certain elements of the financial criteria (such as the unit price) to the detriment of the non-financial criteria. In order to ensure the integrity, transparency and predictability of the evaluation stage of the selection proceedings, it is recommended that the enacting State set forth in its law the evaluation processes that contracting authorities may use to compare and evaluate proposals and the details of the application of this process.

criteria used for pre-selection. The contracting authority shall disqualify any bidder that fails to demonstrate again its qualifications if requested to do so.²³

Model provision 17. Final negotiations (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendations 26 (for para. 1) and 27 (for para. 2) and chap. III, paras. 83 and 84)

- 1. The contracting authority shall rank all responsive proposals on the basis of the evaluation criteria and invite for final negotiation of the concession contract the bidder that has attained the best rating. Final negotiations shall not concern those contractual terms, if any, that were stated as non-negotiable in the final request for proposals.
- 2. If it becomes apparent to the contracting authority that the negotiations with the bidder invited will not result in a concession contract, the contracting authority shall inform the bidder of its intention to terminate the negotiations and give the bidder reasonable time to formulate its best and final offer. If the contracting authority does not find that proposal acceptable, it shall terminate the negotiations with the bidder concerned. The contracting authority shall then invite for negotiations the other bidders in the order of their ranking until it arrives at a concession contract or rejects all remaining proposals. The contracting authority shall not resume negotiations with a bidder with which negotiations have been terminated pursuant to this paragraph.

3. Negotiation of concession contracts without competitive procedures

Model provision 18. Circumstances authorizing award without competitive procedures (see recommendation 28 and chap. III, para. 89)

Subject to approval by [the enacting State indicates the relevant authority],²⁴ the contracting authority is authorized to negotiate a concession contract without using the procedure set forth in model provisions 6 to 17 in the following cases:

²³Where pre-qualification proceedings have been engaged in, the criteria shall be the same as those used in the pre-qualification proceedings.

²⁴The rationale for subjecting the award of the concession contract without competitive procedures to the approval of a higher authority is to ensure that the contracting authority engages in direct negotiations with bidders only in the appropriate circumstances (see the *Legislative Guide*, chap. III, "Selection of the concessionaire", paras. 85-96). The model provision therefore suggests that the enacting State indicate a relevant authority that is competent to authorize negotiations in all cases set forth in the model provision. The enacting State may provide, however, for different approval requirements for each subparagraph of the model provision. In some cases, for instance, the enacting State may provide that the authority to engage in such negotiations derives directly from the law. In other cases, the enacting State may make the negotiations subject to the approval of different higher authorities, depending on the nature of the services to be provided or the infrastructure sector concerned. In those cases, the enacting State may need to adapt the model provision to these approval requirements by adding the particular approval requirement to the subparagraph concerned, or by adding a reference to provisions of its law where these approval requirements are set forth.

- (a) When there is an urgent need for ensuring continuity in the provision of the service and engaging in the procedures set forth in model provisions 6 to 17 would be impractical, provided that the circumstances giving rise to the urgency were neither foreseeable by the contracting authority nor the result of dilatory conduct on its part;
- (b) Where the project is of short duration and the anticipated initial investment value does not exceed the amount [of [the enacting State specifies a monetary ceiling]] [set forth in [the enacting State indicates the provisions of its laws that specify the monetary threshold below which a privately financed infrastructure project may be awarded without competitive procedures]];²⁵
 - (c) Where the project involves national defence or national security;
- (d) Where there is only one source capable of providing the required service, such as when the provision of the service requires the use of intellectual property, trade secrets or other exclusive rights owned or possessed by a certain person or persons;
 - (e) In cases of unsolicited proposals falling under model provision 23;
- (f) When an invitation to the pre-selection proceedings or a request for proposals has been issued but no applications or proposals were submitted or all proposals failed to meet the evaluation criteria set forth in the request for proposals and if, in the judgement of the contracting authority, issuing a new invitation to the pre-selection proceedings and a new request for proposals would be unlikely to result in a project award within a required time frame;²⁶
- (g) In other cases where the [the enacting State indicates the relevant authority] authorizes such an exception for compelling reasons of public interest.²⁷

Model provision 19. Procedures for negotiation of a concession contract (see the Legislative Guide, recommendation 29 and chap. III, para. 90)

Where a concession contract is negotiated without using the procedures set forth in model provisions 6-17 the contracting authority shall:²⁸

(a) Except for concession contracts negotiated pursuant to model provision 18, subparagraph (c), cause a notice of its intention to commence

²⁵As an alternative to the exclusion provided for in subparagraph (b), the enacting State may consider devising a simplified procedure for request for proposals for projects falling thereunder, for instance by applying the procedures described in art. 48 of the Model Procurement Law.

²⁶The enacting State may wish to require that the contracting authority include in the record to be kept pursuant to model provision 26 a summary of the results of the negotiations and indicate the extent to which those results differed from the project specifications and contractual terms of the original request for proposals, and that it state the reasons therefor.

 $^{^{27}}$ Enacting States that deem it desirable to authorize the use of negotiated procedures on an ad hoc basis may wish to retain subparagraph (g) when implementing the model provision. Enacting States wishing to limit exceptions to the competitive selection procedures may prefer not to include the subparagraph. In any event, for purposes of transparency, the enacting State may wish to indicate here or elsewhere in the model provision other exceptions, if any, authorizing the use of negotiated procedures that may be provided for under specific legislation.

²⁸A number of elements to enhance transparency in negotiations under this model provision are discussed in the *Legislative Guide*, chap. III, "Selection of the concessionaire", paras. 90-96.

negotiations in respect of a concession contract to be published in accordance with [the enacting State indicates the provisions of any relevant laws on procurement proceedings that govern the publication of notices];

- (b) Engage in negotiations with as many persons as the contracting authority judges capable²⁹ of carrying out the project as circumstances permit;
- (c) Establish evaluation criteria against which proposals shall be evaluated and ranked.

4. Unsolicited proposals³⁰

Model provision 20. Admissibility of unsolicited proposals (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 30 and chap. III, paras. 97-109)

As an exception to model provisions 6 to 17, the contracting authority³¹ is authorized to consider unsolicited proposals pursuant to the procedures set forth in model provisions 21 to 23, provided that such proposals do not relate to a project for which selection procedures have been initiated or announced.

Model provision 21. Procedures for determining the admissibility of unsolicited proposals (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendations 31 (for paras. 1 and 2) and 32 (for para. 3) and chap. III, paras. 110-112)

1. Following receipt and preliminary examination of an unsolicited proposal, the contracting authority shall promptly inform the proponent whether or not the project is considered to be potentially in the public interest.³²

²⁹Enacting States wishing to enhance transparency in the use of negotiated procedures may establish, by specific regulations, qualification criteria to be met by persons invited to negotiations pursuant to model provisions 18 and 19. An indication of possible qualification criteria is contained in model provision 7.

³⁰The policy considerations on the advantages and disadvantages of unsolicited proposals are discussed in the *Legislative Guide*, chap. III, "Selection of the concessionaire", paras. 98-100. States that wish to allow contracting authorities to handle such proposals may wish to use the procedures set forth in model provisions 21-23.

³¹The model provision assumes that the power to entertain unsolicited proposals lies with the contracting authority. However, depending on the regulatory system of the enacting State, a body separate from the contracting authority may have the responsibility for entertaining unsolicited proposals or for considering, for instance, whether an unsolicited proposal is in the public interest. In such a case, the manner in which the functions of such a body may need to be coordinated with those of the contracting authority should be carefully considered by the enacting State (see footnotes 1, 3 and 24 and the references cited therein).

³²The determination that a proposed project is in the public interest entails a considered judgement regarding the potential benefits to the public that are offered by the project, as well as its relationship to the Government's policy for the infrastructure sector concerned. In order to ensure the integrity, transparency and predictability of the procedures for determining the admissibility of unsolicited proposals, it may be advisable for the enacting State to provide guidance, in regulations or other documents, concerning the criteria that will be used to determine whether an unsolicited proposal is in the public interest, which may include criteria for assessing the appropriateness of the contractual arrangements and the reasonableness of the proposed allocation of project risks.

- 2. If the project is considered to be potentially in the public interest under paragraph 1, the contracting authority shall invite the proponent to submit as much information on the proposed project as is feasible at this stage to allow the contracting authority to make a proper evaluation of the proponent's qualifications³³ and the technical and economic feasibility of the project and to determine whether the project is likely to be successfully implemented in the manner proposed in terms acceptable to the contracting authority. For this purpose, the proponent shall submit a technical and economic feasibility study, an environmental impact study and satisfactory information regarding the concept or technology contemplated in the proposal.
- 3. In considering an unsolicited proposal, the contracting authority shall respect the intellectual property, trade secrets or other exclusive rights contained in, arising from or referred to in the proposal. Therefore, the contracting authority shall not make use of information provided by or on behalf of the proponent in connection with its unsolicited proposal other than for the evaluation of that proposal, except with the consent of the proponent. Except as otherwise agreed by the parties, the contracting authority shall, if the proposal is rejected, return to the proponent the original and any copies of documents that the proponent submitted and prepared throughout the procedure.

Model provision 22. Unsolicited proposals that do not involve intellectual property, trade secrets or other exclusive rights (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 33 and chap. III, paras. 113 and 114)

- 1. Except in the circumstances set forth in model provision 18, the contracting authority shall, if it decides to implement the project, initiate a selection procedure in accordance with model provisions 6 to 17 if the contracting authority considers that:
- (a) The envisaged output of the project can be achieved without the use of intellectual property, trade secrets or other exclusive rights owned or possessed by the proponent; and
 - (b) The proposed concept or technology is not truly unique or new.
- 2. The proponent shall be invited to participate in the selection proceedings initiated by the contracting authority pursuant to paragraph 1 and may be given an incentive or a similar benefit in a manner described by the contracting authority in the request for proposals in consideration for the development and submission of the proposal.

³³The enacting State may wish to provide in regulations the qualification criteria that need to be met by the proponent. Elements to be taken into account for that purpose are indicated in model provision 7.

Model provision 23. Unsolicited proposals involving intellectual property, trade secrets or other exclusive rights (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendations 34 (for paras. 1 and 2) and 35 (for paras. 3 and 4) and chap. III, paras. 115-117)

- 1. If the contracting authority determines that the conditions of model provision 22, paragraph 1 (a) and (b), are not met, it shall not be required to carry out a selection procedure pursuant to model provisions 6 to 17. However, the contracting authority may still seek to obtain elements of comparison for the unsolicited proposal in accordance with the provisions set out in paragraphs 2 to 4 of this model provision.³⁴
- 2. Where the contracting authority intends to obtain elements of comparison for the unsolicited proposal, the contracting authority shall publish a description of the essential output elements of the proposal with an invitation for other interested parties to submit proposals within [a reasonable period] [the enacting State indicates a certain amount of time].
- 3. If no proposals in response to an invitation issued pursuant to paragraph 2 of this model provision are received within [a reasonable period] [the amount of time specified in paragraph 2 above], the contracting authority may engage in negotiations with the original proponent.
- 4. If the contracting authority receives proposals in response to an invitation issued pursuant to paragraph 2, the contracting authority shall invite the proponents to negotiations in accordance with the provisions set forth in model provision 19. In the event that the contracting authority receives a sufficiently large number of proposals, which appear prima facie to meet its infrastructure needs, the contracting authority shall request the submission of proposals pursuant to model provisions 10 to 17, subject to any incentive or other benefit that may be given to the person who submitted the unsolicited proposal in accordance with model provision 22, paragraph 2.

5. Miscellaneous provisions

Model provision 24. Confidentiality (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 36 and chap. III, para. 118)

The contracting authority shall treat proposals in such a manner as to avoid the disclosure of their content to competing bidders. Any discussions, communications and negotiations between the contracting authority and a bidder pursuant to model provisions 10, paragraph 3, 17, 18, 19 or 23, paragraphs 3 and 4, shall be confidential. Unless required by law or by a court

³⁴The enacting State may wish to consider adopting a special procedure for handling unsolicited proposals falling under this model provision, which may be modelled, mutatis mutandis, on the request-for-proposals procedure set forth in article 48 of the Model Procurement Law.

order or permitted by the request for proposals, no party to the negotiations shall disclose to any other person any technical, price or other information in relation to discussions, communications and negotiations pursuant to the aforementioned provisions without the consent of the other party.

Model provision 25. Notice of contract award (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 37 and chap. III, para. 119)

Except for concession contracts awarded pursuant to model provision 18, subparagraph (c), the contracting authority shall cause a notice of the contract award to be published in accordance with [the enacting State indicates the provisions of its laws on procurement proceedings that govern the publication of contract award notices]. The notice shall identify the concessionaire and include a summary of the essential terms of the concession contract.

Model provision 26. Record of selection and award proceedings (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 38 and chap. III, paras. 120-126)

The contracting authority shall keep an appropriate record of information pertaining to the selection and award proceedings in accordance with [the enacting State indicates the provisions of its laws on public procurement that govern record of procurement proceedings].³⁵

Model provision 27. Review procedures (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 39 and chap. III, paras. 127-131)

A bidder that claims to have suffered, or that may suffer, loss or injury due to a breach of a duty imposed on the contracting authority by the law may seek review of the contracting authority's acts or failures to act in accordance with [the enacting State indicates the provisions of its laws governing the review of decisions made in procurement proceedings].³⁶

³⁵The content of such a record for the various types of project award contemplated in the model provisions, as well as the extent to which the information contained therein may be accessible to the public, are discussed in the *Legislative Guide*, chap. III, "Selection of the concessionaire", paras. 120-126. The content of such a record for the various types of project award is further set out in article 11 of the Model Procurement Law. If the laws of the enacting State do not adequately address these matters, the enacting State should adopt legislation or regulations to that effect.

³⁶Elements for the establishment of an adequate review system are discussed in the *Legislative Guide*, chap. III, "Selection of the concessionaire", paras. 127-131. They are also contained in chapter VI of the Model Procurement Law. If the laws of the enacting State do not provide such an adequate review system, the enacting State should consider adopting legislation to that effect.

III. Contents and implementation of the concession contract

Model provision 28. Contents and implementation of the concession contract (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 40 and chap. IV, paras. 1-11)

The concession contract shall provide for such matters as the parties deem appropriate,³⁷ such as:

- (a) The nature and scope of works to be performed and services to be provided by the concessionaire (see chap. IV, para. 1);
- (b) The conditions for provision of those services and the extent of exclusivity, if any, of the concessionaire's rights under the concession contract (see recommendation 5);
- (c) The assistance that the contracting authority may provide to the concessionaire in obtaining licences and permits to the extent necessary for the implementation of the infrastructure project;
- (d) Any requirements relating to the establishment and minimum capital of a legal entity incorporated in accordance with model provision 30 (see recommendations 42 and 43 and model provision 30);
- (e) The ownership of assets related to the project and the obligations of the parties, as appropriate, concerning the acquisition of the project site and any necessary easements, in accordance with model provisions 31 to 33 (see recommendations 44 and 45 and model provisions 31-33);
- (f) The remuneration of the concessionaire, whether consisting of tariffs or fees for the use of the facility or the provision of services; the methods and formulas for the establishment or adjustment of any such tariffs or fees; and payments, if any, that may be made by the contracting authority or other public authority (see recommendations 46 and 48);
- (g) Procedures for the review and approval of engineering designs, construction plans and specifications by the contracting authority, and the procedures for testing and final inspection, approval and acceptance of the infrastructure facility (see recommendation 52);
- (h) The extent of the concessionaire's obligations to ensure, as appropriate, the modification of the service so as to meet the actual demand for the service, its continuity and its provision under essentially the same conditions for all users (see recommendation 53 and model provision 38);
- (i) The contracting authority's or other public authority's right to monitor the works to be performed and services to be provided by the concessionaire and the conditions and extent to which the contracting authority or a regulatory agency may order variations in respect of the works and conditions of service or take such other reasonable actions as they may find appropriate to ensure that the infrastructure facility is properly operated and the

³⁷Enacting States may wish to note that the inclusion in the concession contract of provisions dealing with some of the matters listed in this model provision is mandatory pursuant to other model provisions.

services are provided in accordance with the applicable legal and contractual requirements (see recommendations 52 and 54, subpara. (b));

- (j) The extent of the concessionaire's obligation to provide the contracting authority or a regulatory agency, as appropriate, with reports and other information on its operations (see recommendation 54, subpara. (a));
- (k) Mechanisms to deal with additional costs and other consequences that might result from any order issued by the contracting authority or another public authority in connection with subparagraphs (h) and (i) above, including any compensation to which the concessionaire might be entitled (see chap. IV, paras. 73-76);
- (1) Any rights of the contracting authority to review and approve major contracts to be entered into by the concessionaire, in particular with the concessionaire's own shareholders or other affiliated persons (see recommendation 56);
- (m) Guarantees of performance to be provided and insurance policies to be maintained by the concessionaire in connection with the implementation of the infrastructure project (see recommendation 58, subparas. (a) and (b));
- (n) Remedies available in the event of default of either party (see recommendation 58, subpara. (e));
- (o) The extent to which either party may be exempt from liability for failure or delay in complying with any obligation under the concession contract owing to circumstances beyond its reasonable control (see recommendation 58, subpara. (d));
- (p) The duration of the concession contract and the rights and obligations of the parties upon its expiry or termination (see recommendation 61);
- (q) The manner for calculating compensation pursuant to model provision 47 (see recommendation 67);
- (r) The governing law and the mechanisms for the settlement of disputes that may arise between the contracting authority and the concessionaire (see recommendation 69 and model provisions 29 and 49);
- (s) The rights and obligations of the parties with respect to confidential information (see model provision 24).

Model provision 29. Governing law (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 41 and chap. IV, paras. 5-8)

The concession contract is governed by the law of [the enacting State] unless otherwise provided in the concession contract.³⁸

³⁸Legal systems provide varying answers to the question as to whether the parties to a concession contract may choose as the governing law of the contract a law other than the laws of the host country. Furthermore, as discussed in the *Legislative Guide* (see chap. IV, "Construction and operation of infrastructure: legislative framework and project agreement", paras. 5-8), in some countries the concession contract may be subject to administrative law, while in others the concession contract may be governed by private law (see also the *Legislative Guide*, chap. VII, "Other relevant areas of law", paras. 24-27). The governing law also includes legal rules of other fields of law that apply to the various issues that arise during the implementation of an infrastructure project (see generally the *Legislative Guide*, chap. VII, "Other relevant areas of law", sect. B).

Model provision 30. Organization of the concessionaire (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendations 42 and 43 and chap. IV, paras. 12-18)

The contracting authority may require that the successful bidder establish a legal entity incorporated under the laws of [the enacting State], provided that a statement to that effect was made in the pre-selection documents or in the request for proposals, as appropriate. Any requirement relating to the minimum capital of such a legal entity and the procedures for obtaining the approval of the contracting authority to its statute and by-laws and significant changes therein shall be set forth in the concession contract consistent with the terms of the request for proposals.

Model provision 31. Ownership of assets³⁹ (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 44 and chap. IV, paras. 20-26)

The concession contract shall specify, as appropriate, which assets are or shall be public property and which assets are or shall be the private property of the concessionaire. The concession contract shall in particular identify which assets belong to the following categories:

- (a) Assets, if any, that the concessionaire is required to return or transfer to the contracting authority or to another entity indicated by the contracting authority in accordance with the terms of the concession contract;
- (b) Assets, if any, that the contracting authority, at its option, may purchase from the concessionaire; and
- (c) Assets, if any, that the concessionaire may retain or dispose of upon expiry or termination of the concession contract.

Model provision 32. Acquisition of rights related to the project site (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 45 and chap. IV, paras. 27-29)

1. The contracting authority or other public authority under the terms of the law and the concession contract shall make available to the concessionaire

³⁹Private sector participation in infrastructure projects may be devised in a variety of different forms, ranging from publicly owned and operated infrastructure to fully privatized projects (see the Legislative Guide, "Introduction and background information on privately financed infrastructure projects", paras. 47-53). Those general policy options typically determine the legislative approach for ownership of project-related assets (see the Legislative Guide, chap. IV, "Construction and operation of infrastructure: legislative framework and project agreement", paras. 20-26). Irrespective of the host country's general or sectoral policy, the ownership regime of the various assets involved should be clearly defined and based on sufficient legislative authority. Clarity in this respect is important, as it will directly affect the concessionaire's ability to create security interests in project assets for the purpose of raising financing for the project (see the Legislative Guide, chap. IV, "Construction and operation of infrastructure: legislative framework and project agreement", paras. 52-61). Consistent with the flexible approach taken by various legal systems, the model provision does not contemplate an unqualified transfer of all assets to the contracting authority but allows a distinction between assets that must be transferred to the contracting authority, assets that may be purchased by the contracting authority, at its option, and assets that remain the private property of the concessionaire, upon expiry or termination of the concession contract or at any other time.

or, as appropriate, shall assist the concessionaire in obtaining such rights related to the project site, including title thereto, as may be necessary for the implementation of the project.

2. Any compulsory acquisition of land that may be required for the implementation of the project shall be carried out in accordance with [the enacting State indicates the provisions of its laws that govern compulsory acquisition of private property by public authorities for reasons of public interest].

Model provision 33. Easements⁴⁰ (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 45 and chap. IV, para. 30)

Variant A

1. The contracting authority or other public authority under the terms of the law and the concession contract shall make available to the concessionaire or, as appropriate, shall assist the concessionaire to enjoy the right to enter upon, transit through or do work or fix installations upon property of third parties, as appropriate and required for the implementation of the project in accordance with [the enacting State indicates the provisions of its laws that govern easements and other similar rights enjoyed by public utility companies and infrastructure operators under its laws].

Variant B

- 1. The concessionaire shall have the right to enter upon, transit through or do work or fix installations upon property of third parties, as appropriate and required for the implementation of the project in accordance with [the enacting State indicates the provisions of its laws that govern easements and other similar rights enjoyed by public utility companies and infrastructure operators under its laws].
- 2. Any easements that may be required for the implementation of the project shall be created in accordance with [the enacting State indicates the provisions of its laws that govern the creation of easements for reasons of public interest].

⁴⁰The right to transit on or through adjacent property for project-related purposes or to do work on such property may be acquired by the concessionaire directly or may be compulsorily acquired by a public authority simultaneously with the project site. A somewhat different alternative, which is reflected in variant B, might be for the law itself to empower public service providers to enter, pass through or do work or fix installations upon the property of third parties, as required for the construction, operation and maintenance of public infrastructure (see the *Legislative Guide*, chap. IV, "Construction and operation of infrastructure: legislative framework and project agreement", paras. 30-32).

Model provision 34. Financial arrangements (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendations 46, 47 and 48 and chap. IV, paras. 33-51)

- 1. The concessionaire shall have the right to charge, receive or collect tariffs or fees for the use of the facility or its services in accordance with the concession contract, which shall provide for methods and formulas for the establishment and adjustment of those tariffs or fees [in accordance with the rules established by the competent regulatory agency].⁴¹
- 2. The contracting authority shall have the power to agree to make direct payments to the concessionaire as a substitute for, or in addition to, tariffs or fees for the use of the facility or its services.

Model provision 35. Security interests (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 49 and chap. IV, paras. 52-61)

- 1. Subject to any restriction that may be contained in the concession contract,⁴² the concessionaire has the right to create security interests over any of its assets, rights or interests, including those relating to the infrastructure project, as required to secure any financing needed for the project, including, in particular, the following:
- (a) Security over movable or immovable property owned by the concessionaire or its interests in project assets;
- (b) A pledge of the proceeds of, and receivables owed to the concessionaire for, the use of the facility or the services it provides.
- 2. The shareholders of the concessionaire shall have the right to pledge or create any other security interest in their shares in the concessionaire.
- 3. No security under paragraph 1 may be created over public property or other property, assets or rights needed for the provision of a public service, where the creation of such security is prohibited by the law of [the enacting State].

⁴¹Tolls, fees, prices or other charges accruing to the concessionaire, which are referred to in the *Legislative Guide* as "tariffs", may be the main (sometimes even the sole) source of revenue to recover the investment made in the project in the absence of subsidies or payments by the contracting authority or other public authorities (see the *Legislative Guide*, chap. II, "Project risks and government support", paras. 30-60). The cost at which public services are provided is typically an element of the Government's infrastructure policy and a matter of immediate concern for large sections of the public. Thus, the regulatory framework for the provision of public services in many countries includes special tariff-control rules. Furthermore, statutory provisions or general rules of law in some legal systems establish parameters for pricing goods or services, for instance by requiring that charges meet certain standards of "reasonableness", "fairness" or "equity" (see the *Legislative Guide*, chap. IV, "Construction and operation of infrastructure: legislative framework and project agreement", paras. 36-46).

⁴²These restrictions may, in particular, concern the enforcement of the rights or interests relating to assets of the infrastructure project.

Model provision 36. Assignment of the concession contract (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 50 and chap. IV, paras. 62 and 63)

Except as otherwise provided in model provision 35, the rights and obligations of the concessionaire under the concession contract may not be assigned to third parties without the consent of the contracting authority. The concession contract shall set forth the conditions under which the contracting authority shall give its consent to an assignment of the rights and obligations of the concessionaire under the concession contract, including the acceptance by the new concessionaire of all obligations thereunder and evidence of the new concessionaire's technical and financial capability as necessary for providing the service.

Model provision 37. Transfer of controlling interest⁴³ in the concessionaire (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 51 and chap. IV, paras. 64-68)

Except as otherwise provided in the concession contract, a controlling interest in the concessionaire may not be transferred to third parties without the consent of the contracting authority. The concession contract shall set forth the conditions under which consent of the contracting authority shall be given.

Model provision 38. Operation of infrastructure (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 53 and chap. IV, paras. 80-93 (for para. 1) and recommendation 55 and chap. IV, paras. 96 and 97 (for para. 2))

- 1. The concession contract shall set forth, as appropriate, the extent of the concessionaire's obligations to ensure:
- (a) The modification of the service so as to meet the demand for the service:
 - (b) The continuity of the service;
- (c) The provision of the service under essentially the same conditions for all users;
- (d) The non-discriminatory access, as appropriate, of other service providers to any public infrastructure network operated by the concessionaire.

⁴³The notion of "controlling interest" generally refers to the power to appoint the management of a corporation and influence or determine its business. Different criteria may be used in various legal systems or even in different bodies of law within the same legal system, ranging from formal criteria attributing a controlling interest to the ownership of a certain amount (typically more than 50 per cent) of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of a corporation to more complex criteria that take into account the actual management structure of a corporation. Enacting States that do not have a statutory definition of "controlling interest" may need to define the term in regulations issued to implement the model provision.

2. The concessionaire shall have the right to issue and enforce rules governing the use of the facility, subject to the approval of the contracting authority or a regulatory body.

Model provision 39. Compensation for specific changes in legislation (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 58, subpara. (c), and chap. IV, paras. 122-125)

The concession contract shall set forth the extent to which the concessionaire is entitled to compensation in the event that the cost of the concessionaire's performance of the concession contract has substantially increased or that the value that the concessionaire receives for such performance has substantially diminished, as compared with the costs and the value of performance originally foreseen, as a result of changes in legislation or regulations specifically applicable to the infrastructure facility or the services it provides.

Model provision 40. Revision of the concession contract (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 58, subpara. (c), and chap. IV, paras. 126-130)

- 1. Without prejudice to model provision 39, the concession contract shall further set forth the extent to which the concessionaire is entitled to a revision of the concession contract with a view to providing compensation in the event that the cost of the concessionaire's performance of the concession contract has substantially increased or that the value that the concessionaire receives for such performance has substantially diminished, as compared with the costs and the value of performance originally foreseen, as a result of:
 - (a) Changes in economic or financial conditions; or
- (b) Changes in legislation or regulations not specifically applicable to the infrastructure facility or the services it provides;

provided that the economic, financial, legislative or regulatory changes:

- (a) Occur after the conclusion of the contract;
- (b) Are beyond the control of the concessionaire; and
- (c) Are of such a nature that the concessionaire could not reasonably be expected to have taken them into account at the time the concession contract was negotiated or to have avoided or overcome their consequences.
- 2. The concession contract shall establish procedures for revising the terms of the concession contract following the occurrence of any such changes.

Model provision 41. Takeover of an infrastructure project by the contracting authority (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 59 and chap. IV, paras. 143-146)

Under the circumstances set forth in the concession contract, the contracting authority has the right to temporarily take over the operation of the facility for the purpose of ensuring the effective and uninterrupted delivery of the service in the event of serious failure by the concessionaire to perform its obligations and to rectify the breach within a reasonable period of time after having been given notice by the contracting authority to do so.

Model provision 42. Substitution of the concessionaire (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 60 and chap. IV, paras. 147-150)

The contracting authority may agree with the entities extending financing for an infrastructure project and the concessionaire to provide for the substitution of the concessionaire by a new entity or person appointed to perform under the existing concession contract upon serious breach by the concessionaire or other events that could otherwise justify the termination of the concession contract or other similar circumstances.⁴⁴

IV. Duration, extension and termination of the concession contract

1. Duration and extension of the concession contract

Model provision 43. Duration and extension of the concession contract (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 62 and chap. V, paras. 2-8)

The duration of the concession shall be set forth in the concession contract. The contracting authority may not agree to extend its duration except as a result of the following circumstances:

- (a) Delay in completion or interruption of operation due to circumstances beyond the reasonable control of either party;
- (b) Project suspension brought about by acts of the contracting authority or other public authorities;

⁴⁴The substitution of the concessionaire by another entity, proposed by the lenders and accepted by the contracting authority under the terms agreed by them, is intended to give the parties an opportunity to avert the disruptive consequences of termination of the concession contract (see the *Legislative Guide*, chap. IV, "Construction and operation of infrastructure: legislative framework and project agreement", paras. 147-150). The parties may wish first to resort to other practical measures, possibly in a successive fashion, such as temporary takeover of the project by the lenders or by a temporary administrator appointed by them, or enforcement of the lenders' security over the shares of the concessionaire company by selling those shares to a third party acceptable to the contracting authority.

- (c) Increase in costs arising from requirements of the contracting authority not originally foreseen in the concession contract, if the concessionaire would not be able to recover such costs without such extension: or
 - (d) [Other circumstances, as specified by the enacting State].⁴⁵

2. Termination of the concession contract

Model provision 44. Termination of the concession contract by the contracting authority (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 63 and chap. V, paras. 14-27)

The contracting authority may terminate the concession contract:

- (a) In the event that it can no longer be reasonably expected that the concessionaire will be able or willing to perform its obligations, owing to insolvency, serious breach or otherwise;
- (b) For compelling⁴⁶ reasons of public interest, subject to payment of compensation to the concessionaire, the terms of the compensation to be as agreed in the concession contract;
 - (c) [Other circumstances that the enacting State might wish to add].

Model provision 45. Termination of the concession contract by the concessionaire (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 64 and chap. V, paras. 28-33)

The concessionaire may not terminate the concession contract except under the following circumstances:

- (a) In the event of serious breach by the contracting authority or other public authority of its obligations in connection with the concession contract;
- (b) If the conditions for a revision of the concession contract under model provision 40, paragraph 1, are met, but the parties have failed to agree on a revision of the concession contract; or
- (c) If the cost of the concessionaire's performance of the concession contract has substantially increased or the value that the concessionaire receives for such performance has substantially diminished as a result of acts or omissions of the contracting authority or other public authorities, for instance, pursuant to model provision 28, subparagraphs (h) and (i), and the parties have failed to agree on a revision of the concession contract.

⁴⁵The enacting State may wish to consider the possibility of having the law authorize a consensual extension of the concession contract pursuant to its terms, for reasons of public interest, as justified in the record to be kept by the contracting authority pursuant to model provision 26.

⁴⁶Possible situations constituting a compelling reason of public interest are discussed in the *Legislative Guide*, chap. V, "Duration, extension and termination of the project agreement", para. 27.

Model provision 46. Termination of the concession contract by either party (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 65 and chap. V, paras. 34 and 35)

Either party shall have the right to terminate the concession contract in the event that the performance of its obligations is rendered impossible by circumstances beyond either party's reasonable control. The parties shall also have the right to terminate the concession contract by mutual consent.

3. Arrangements upon termination or expiry of the concession contract

Model provision 47. Compensation upon termination of the concession contract (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 67 and chap. V, paras. 43-49)

The concession contract shall stipulate how compensation due to either party is calculated in the event of termination of the concession contract, providing, where appropriate, for compensation for the fair value of works performed under the concession contract, costs incurred or losses sustained by either party, including, as appropriate, lost profits.

Model provision 48. Wind-up and transfer measures (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 66 and chap. V, paras. 37-42 (for subpara. (a)) and recommendation 68 and chap. V, paras. 50-62 (for subparas. (b)-(d))

The concession contract shall provide, as appropriate, for:

- (a) Mechanisms and procedures for the transfer of assets to the contracting authority;
- (b) The compensation to which the concessionaire may be entitled in respect of assets transferred to the contracting authority or to a new concessionaire or purchased by the contracting authority;
 - (c) The transfer of technology required for the operation of the facility;
- (d) The training of the contracting authority's personnel or of a successor concessionaire in the operation and maintenance of the facility;
- (e) The provision, by the concessionaire, of continuing support services and resources, including the supply of spare parts, if required, for a reasonable period after the transfer of the facility to the contracting authority or to a successor concessionaire.

V. Settlement of disputes

Model provision 49. Disputes between the contracting authority and the concessionaire (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 69 and chap. VI, paras. 3-41)

Any disputes between the contracting authority and the concessionaire shall be settled through the dispute settlement mechanisms agreed by the parties in the concession contract.⁴⁷

Model provision 50. Disputes involving customers or users of the infrastructure facility (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 71 and chap. VI, paras. 43-45)

Where the concessionaire provides services to the public or operates infrastructure facilities accessible to the public, the contracting authority may require the concessionaire to establish simplified and efficient mechanisms for handling claims submitted by its customers or users of the infrastructure facility.

Model provision 51. Other disputes (see the *Legislative Guide*, recommendation 70 and chap. VI, para. 42)

- 1. The concessionaire and its shareholders shall be free to choose the appropriate mechanisms for settling disputes among themselves.
- 2. The concessionaire shall be free to agree on the appropriate mechanisms for settling disputes between itself and its lenders, contractors, suppliers and other business partners.

⁴⁷The enacting State may provide in its legislation dispute settlement mechanisms that are best suited to the needs of privately financed infrastructure projects.

Further information may be obtained from:

UNCITRAL secretariat Vienna International Centre PO Box 500 A 1400 Vienna Austria

Telephone: +(43) (1) 26060-4060

Fax: +(43) (1) 26060-5813

Internet: http://www.uncitral.org E-mail: uncitral@uncitral.org

كيفية الحصول على منشورات الأمم المتحدة

يمكن الحصول على منشورات الأمم المتحدة من المكتبات ودور التوزيع في جميع أنحاء العالم. استعلم عنها من المكتبة التي تتعامل معها أو اكتب إلى: الأمم المتحدة، قسم البيع في نيويورك أو في حنيف.

如何购取联合国出版物

联合国出版物在全世界各地的书店和经售处均有发售。 请向书店询问或写信到纽约或日内瓦的联合国销售组。

HOW TO OBTAIN UNITED NATIONS PUBLICATIONS

United Nations publications may be obtained from bookstores and distributors throughout the world. Consult your bookstore or write to: United Nations, Sales Section, New York or Geneva.

COMMENT SE PROCURER LES PUBLICATIONS DES NATIONS UNIES

Les publications des Nations Unies sont en vente dans les librairies et les agences dépositaires du monde entier. Informez-vous auprès de votre libraire ou adressez-vous à: Nations Unies, Section des ventes, New York ou Genève.

КАК ПОЛУЧИТЬ ИЗДАНИЯ ОРГАНИЗАЦИИ ОБЪЕДИНЕННЫХ НАЦИЙ

Издания Организации Объединенных Наций можно купить в книжных магазинах и агентствах во всех районах мира. Наводите справки об изданиях в вашем книжном магазине или пишите по адресу: Организация Объединенных Наций, Секция по продаже изданий, Нью-Йорк или Женева.

CÓMO CONSEGUIR PUBLICACIONES DE LAS NACIONES UNIDAS

Las publicaciones de las Naciones Unidas están en venta en librerías y casas distribuidoras en todas partes del mundo. Consulte a su librero o diríjase a: Naciones Unidas, Sección de Ventas, Nueva York o Ginebra.

Printed in Austria V.03-90621—May 2004—3,870

United Nations publication Sales No. E.04.V.11 ISBN 92-1-133583-3

